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1 Summary  
Planning consent has been granted to redevelop and convert a group of former railway 

buildings at Grampound Road to residential use. These proposals prompted an historic 

building record to be carried out in advance of the works. 

The buildings comprise an older two-storey structure (built before c1880) and an 

adjoining infill building which was added sometime between c1880 and c1907. The 

earlier building was designed as an industrial store, probably for grain or agricultural 

feedstuffs, as a trapdoor on the first floor associated with a sack hoist is an original 

feature. By 1907 a small engine house was built to the rear and a belt drive to line 

shafting installed, with the belt drive entering the first floor by a slot cut through the 

rear wall. Irregularities and patches in the floor boarding are the likely traces of 

machines driven via the line shafting. The wooden upper floor may have been 

strengthened (with additional beams and piers beneath) to provide extra support for 

machinery. This arrangement was discontinued in the later 20th century and the belt 

drive slot was blocked off. 

The goods yard complex at Grampound Road was quite extensive and a siding from the 

main railway line was adjoined by a series of structures and a yard. Most of these 

buildings have since been demolished in recent years to reuse the space for a housing 

development. The second subject building was created as an infill structure between 

two buildings recorded on the c1880 map. This was also two-storey, although in more 

recent times most of the wooden upper floor has been removed. The two doorways that 

connect the upper and lower storeys of the structures have clearly been added to the 

original building. 

In recent years both buildings have been reused as part of light engineering/fabrication 

workshops and stores. 
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Fig 1 Location map 

 

 

Fig 2 OS MasterMap detail 
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2 Introduction 

2.1 Project background 

Planning consent was granted by Cornwall Council to convert a small group of former 

railway buildings at Grampound Road, mid Cornwall to residential use (planning ref 

C1/FE15/0700/10/R). However, planning conditions were imposed on the consent and 

Condition 2 related to the historic environment. A brief setting out the requirements for 

historic building recording (see Appendix 1) was provided by the local Historic 

Environment Planning Advice Officer. 

Steve Soper approached Historic Environment Projects with a view to satisfying the 

planning condition. Following agreement of a schedule of costs the project was 

commenced and a Written Scheme of Investigation prepared (see Appendix 2) and this 

document was subsequently approved by the HEPAO. 

2.2 Aims 

The principal aim of the work is to gain an understanding of the origins and historic 

development of the buildings. The objectives are to provide a lasting record of the 

structures in advance of their conversion. This is in the form of a Level 2 historic 

building record, as defined by English Heritage (2006).  

2.3 Methods 

The detail of the working methods is set out in Appendices 1 and 2. Three stages of 

work were undertaken comprising desk-based research, a site visit and archiving and 

presentation of the results (this report). 

2.3.1 Desk–based assessment 

Rapid desk-based research was carried out to inform the fieldwork stage. The main 

sources of information consulted were as follows: 

 Cornwall HER, including place-name evidence. 

 Web searches. 

 Early maps (1809 One Inch OS mapping, 1839 and 1840 parish tithe 

surveys, First and Second Editions of the OS 25 Inch Survey of c1880 and 

c1907). 

 Modern mapping.  

 Air photographs (held by the HER, CC and Google Earth). 

2.3.2 Fieldwork 

A site visit was carried out in June 2013. The buildings were photographed using a 

Pentax 35mm film camera and a Canon Digital SLR camera (with a resolution of 8 

million pixels).  Descriptive information was added to copies of measured plans and 

elevations provided by Steve Soper. Some additional measured detail was also added 

to these drawings. 

2.3.3 Post-fieldwork 

Following the fieldwork the results were processed and the materials suitably archived. 

A professional laboratory processed the film photographs. These were subsequently 

catalogued and stored in accordance with Historic Environment standards. The digital 

photographs were downloaded onto Cornwall Council’s computer network and edited 

where necessary using Adobe PhotoShop software. A selection of these images appears 

in this report. Drawings were annotated and finalised using AutoCAD software. This 

report was compiled to summarise the results. 
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3 Location and setting 
The village of Grampound Road lies on the boundaries of Probus and Ladock parishes in 

mid Cornwall. The settlement lies at the head of a shallow east facing valley between 

the 75m and 100m contours OD. The subject buildings are located near the centre of 

the village at NGR SW 91618 50573 (Figs 1 and 2). 

The geology of the area is Undifferentiated Middle Devonian mudstone, siltstone and 

sandstone. Locally quarried stone has been incorporated in older buildings within the 

village. 

 

4 Designations 

4.1 National 

No national conservation designations appear to apply to Grampound Road. 

4.2 Regional/county 

No county conservation designations apply to the subject buildings at Grampound 

Road. Agricultural land immediately east of the village (belonging to Trenowth) is part 

of an Area of Great Landscape Value. Tree Preservation Orders apply to the housing 

estate to the north of the former railway station (Venton Lace Road). 

4.3 Local 

No local conservation designations appear to apply to Grampound Road. 

 

5 Site history 
Although its railway station was closed a year after the publication of the Beeching 

Report of 1963, Grampound Road village owes its origins to the development of the 

Cornwall Railway more than a century earlier. A station was developed on the 

boundaries of Ladock and Probus parishes and opened in 1859 (Bastin and Thorne 

1994, 11), possibly encouraged by the then landowners of the nearby Trenowth estate. 

This former station provided a stop in an otherwise rural stretch of the railway line 

between St Austell and Truro, although another station and junction was opened a little 

later at Burngullow in 1863 to serve china clay traffic. A minor halt was also opened in 

1908 a few miles west to serve Probus and Ladock villages (Bastin and Thorne ibid). 

The choice of the site at Grampound Road for a station and goods yard is interesting, 

and seems to owe much to the availability of roads linking to Tregony and the 

Roseland. There was also the possibility (at least in the 19th century ‘railway mania’ 

period), of opening a rail branch from Grampound Road to serve that area (John R 

Smith pers comm).   

The area is first mapped at large-scale on the Probus and Ladock parish Tithe Maps 

(1839 and 1840, see Fig 3). At this time the only settlement in the area was Pye’s 

Tenement, a small roadside farm or holding within Ladock parish. The Cornwall Railway 

was developed through this area in the 1850s. As a result of the creation of the railway 

station, a village had rapidly developed here by the 1880s, complete with two hotels, a 

Methodist chapel, Post Office and a school (Fig 4).  

The goods yard was opened at Grampound Road from 1864 and according to the 

Wikipedia entry, 3580 cattle had been despatched from this railway station in the year 

prior to June 1869. The eastern of the two subject buildings was mapped on the c1880 

map, and the other building, an infill structure, was in existence before the area was 

mapped again c1907 (Fig 5). 

The railway station continued in use through the earlier and mid 20th century, and was 

eventually closed as part of the ‘Beeching axe’ in October 1964. Since then, the various 

industrial buildings have been sold off, reused or demolished, with a large clearance 
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taking place for construction of a housing estate between 2000 and 2005 (compare Figs 

6 and 7). This has left the two subject buildings remaining, plus other former railway 

buildings immediately to the east and north. 

 

6 Building descriptions 

6.1 Overall layout 

See Figs 31 and 32 

The two subject buildings are at right angles to one another (see Fig 8). Building 1, the 

older of the two structures, is oriented approximately west-north-west – east-south-

east and faces north-north-east. The long axis of Building 2 is oriented north-north-east 

– south-south-west. For simplicity of description Building 1 will hereafter be described 

as oriented west-east and Building 2 as north-south.  

6.2 Building 1 

6.2.1 Plan-form 

Building 1 is a rectangular two-storey double fronted structure with central loading 

doors to each floor (Figs 9 and 12). There are also loading doors serving the upper floor 

in the rear (south) wall (Fig 11). Each floor is lit by a pair of original windows in the 

front (north) wall; on the ground floor these are 12-pane casements, with 12-pane 

sash windows on the first floor. In its original form the building also had a doorway at 

the south east corner, and small windows in both gable ends.  

6.2.2 Materials 

Building 1 is well-designed and constructed. Its walls are built of semi-coursed light 

brown slate masonry bedded in lime mortar. Architectural interest has been added in 

the form of dressed quoin and jamb stones of fine grained granite, with shallow arches 

with keystones above the central loading doors. The front windows have shallow 

external red brick arches with wooden lintels behind. Slate sills are also fitted to the 

windows. 

Interior wall surfaces at both storeys have been painted with lime-wash. 

The ground floor is of modern concrete; a surviving air brick in the north wall strongly 

suggests at least part of the original floor was of wood (with a ventilated air gap 

beneath). It is possible that the floor height was changed when the concrete was 

added, but the present floor level corresponds with the threshold of the entrance, which 

appears unaltered.  

The wooden plank upper floor is supported on sawn joists and (probably originally) a 

single longitudinal principal beam beneath, the beam propped at intervals on steel 

piers. The steel piers appear to be replacements, and two other outer longitudinal 

beams of lighter section may also be additions to the original floor (Fig 15). 

King-post trusses are used to support the roof of Building 1, which is divided into 7 

bays. Empty mortises indicate that diagonal struts have been removed from the roof 

trusses; this appears to relate to later installation of line shafting to provide belt drive 

to machinery (Fig 21). The present roof is of corrugated asbestos sheets, probably 

replacing slate. The original purlins are still extant and these have been supplemented 

with additional horizontal timbers to support the present roof covering.  

The front windows appear to be original; ground floor windows are painted 12-pane 

casements and the upper floor windows are horned 12-pane sashes. There are no 

surviving original doors, although some of the extant frames may be of original timber. 

The central loading doorway on the ground floor was originally fitted with a sliding door 

mounted on a track above; evidence for the latter is still visible as a mortared 

horizontal patch above the door arch. 
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6.2.3 Interior – ground floor 

The ground floor of Building 1 is dominated by steel piers and wooden beams 

supporting the upper floor. These divide the floor area into four longitudinal bays. At 

the north-west corner is a separately partitioned area, a modern addition to create a 

small office or similar division.  

Located in the middle of the rear (south) wall on the ground floor is a lighter coloured 

rectangular area of masonry which may be an infilled opening. This is below the 

exterior ground level so may be a blocked loading chute or similar feature. The 

doorway in the west wall is an insertion, created to make a connection with Building 2. 

6.2.4 Interior – upper floor 

The upper floor is a single space and the original layout of the building is largely 

symmetrical when viewed in plan (Fig 32). As well as lighting from the front windows, 

the upper floor also had small windows set high up in the gables. One gable window in 

the west gable is extant and the other has been deepened and then blocked. Symmetry 

in the floor plan is broken only by an original (but now blocked) doorway in the south-

east corner (Fig 17), and an original internal stairwell at the north-west corner (Fig 18). 

The doorway has been blocked in several phases (with differing areas of masonry infill) 

and has been replaced by a narrower inserted doorway almost central to the gable wall. 

The stairway has been removed and only part of its balustrade now remains. This 

alteration would have been made sometime after Building 2 was added and access to 

the upper floors was made from newer stairs there.  

Other additional features on the upper storey include an inserted window in the south 

wall (close to the south-east corner) and a slot for a belt drive (near the south-west 

corner, Fig 13).   

Near the centre of the floor is a double trapdoor with hinged flaps, similar to those 

often seen in corn mills (Figs 16 and 24). This feature appears to be original to the 

build of the floor and was evidently associated with a sack hoist. Although there are no 

remains of any machinery, a recess for a bearing in the west gable (with a large grease 

stain on the wall beneath, see Figs 18 and 20), plus grease stains on the majority of 

the roof trusses are convincing evidence for machinery driven by belts from line 

shafting (Fig 17). It appears the roof trusses were slightly adapted to accommodate 

these additions as empty mortises are traces of missing diagonal struts from the king-

posts. Rectangular patches in the timber floor are likely locations for machinery (Fig 

25). 

Graffiti showing on two roof trusses was probably added by individuals who were asked 

to oil the line-shaft bearings (Figs 22 and 23). 

Other evidence of loading arrangements include remains of a timber beam central to 

the upper loading doorway, which would have projected from the opening and 

supported a pulley for hoisting sacks (Fig 19). 

6.3 Building 2 

6.3.1 Plan-form 

Building 2 is a sub-rectangular two-storey structure oriented north-south, with the 

north gable providing a frontage on a narrow lane (Fig 10). This part also projects 

forward of Building 1. The rear of Building 2 (Fig 14) is angled, to allow clearance for a 

former railway siding (the latter is visible on historic maps, see Figs 4 and 5). The 

building is set into the slope, so that the exterior ground level at the rear (south) end is 

at the first floor height of the interior. 

Building 2 is an infill structure and its west wall is the former shared wall with another 

rectangular building (the majority of which has been demolished to make way for 

modern housing). Sections of the east wall of Building 2 abut Building 1 at its north- 

west and south-west corners. 
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The ground floor front of the building has been divided (with block-work partitions) to 

become a short entrance passage with a small office to the west side and toilets to the 

east. This area supports a surviving width of the upper floor. A short wooden stair leads 

to a platform which provides a link to a first floor doorway into Building 1 (Figs 26 and 

28).  

The west wall of Building 2 was originally the wall of a separate structure. A blocked 

doorway is visible in the ground floor of this elevation and there are two blocked 

openings for windows which once served the upper floor. The south gable has several 

openings and signs of alteration. Original openings include two upper windows, one of 

which is set high up in the gable above a central double doorway (Fig 27). A tall 

doorway, apparently partly spanning the two floor levels, appears to have been 

inserted at the south-east corner. Another window with a brick reveal has been inserted 

to light the ground floor. This has subsequently been blocked. 

Another tall opening is located where Building 2 adjoins the south-west corner of 

Building 1. This is probably associated with a small engine house located here by 

c1907. 

6.3.2 Materials 

The walls of Building 2 are predominantly of brown slate masonry bedded in lime 

mortar. The front of the building differs in that the ground floor of the gable was 

originally open, being supported at the centre by a brick pier, with wooden cladding on 

studwork above. 

The interior wall surfaces of the upper storey are predominantly bare (no lime-wash) 

but the walls at ground floor level have been rendered with cement-based mortar, most 

likely applied in more recent years when the building was reused as a light engineering 

works.  

In the later 20th century the open frontage was filled in with concrete block-work on the 

ground floor and windows inserted. The upper floor cladding of the gable was covered 

with fish-scale felt tiles. 

The ground floor of Building 2 is almost entirely concrete with a cement screed. Part of 

a wooden upper floor survives (Fig 29); this formerly extended the whole length of the 

building and appears to have been partly supported on central piers supporting 

longitudinal timbers (Fig 30). Some joist holes for the former floor are still visible in the 

side walls, although many have been covered with later mortar. 

The roof comprises 12 bays divided by wide A-frame trusses with collars and upper 

collars. Like Building 1, the roof covering is of corrugated asbestos sheets. 

There is little, if any, original joinery surviving in Building 2.  

 

7 Functions 
The interior of Building 1 is designed for the loading, storage and sale of material which 

was transferred from the railway to road transport (or perhaps vice versa). The 

presence of the interior sack hoist indicates that this was the principal way of moving 

material through the building. The sack hoist also suggests the commodity was either 

fuel (such as coal) or animal feedstuffs. The lime-washed interior and general condition 

of the building indicates that it was intended for working with ‘clean’ material, so 

animal feedstuffs appears more likely. It is also noted that there are three original 

loading doorways on the upper storey, as well as another sack hoist over the front 

doorway, so this would have allowed different methods of transfer of goods into the 

building. 

Later on, after Building 2 was added, the provision of mechanisation within Building 1 

allowed some on-site processing to be carried out, perhaps the milling of feedstuffs 

ready for sale to the local farms. 
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As Building 2 has lost the majority of its upper floor (and the ground floor has been 

renewed in more recent times) it is more difficult to establish what this building was 

once used for. The upper floor would have provided a substantial warehouse space. 

 

8 Chronology/dating evidence 
The structural evidence accords with the information from historic maps. Building 1 was 

probably developed soon after the creation of the goods yard at Grampound Road in 

the mid 1860s. Building 2 was added sometime after the 1880 OS map and before the 

c1907 re-survey, most likely around 1900. The c1907 map shows a third smaller 

building between the angle of Buildings 1 and 2. This is most likely to have been a 

small engine house, representing mechanisation within the interior of Building 1 (via 

the belt drive slot through the wall and evidence of line-shafting on the roof trusses). 

From the scale of the engine house it seems most likely that the engine was an internal 

combustion type rather than steam, probably an oil engine. The engine house was 

demolished/removed sometime later in the 20th century. 

 

9 Significance 
Building 1 appears to be directly associated with the market in animal feedstuffs, this 

being a related trade to the documented export of cattle from Grampound Road station. 

Both buildings are therefore symbolic of the burgeoning trade brought by the arrival of 

the railway and the rapid growth of Grampound road village around its new station. 

Although the design of Building 1 is functional some attempt has also been made to 

make it more architecturally interesting, especially with the stone arched doorways and 

quoin detail. 

The station complex at Grampound Road has now mostly been demolished and this 

group of structures (together with a three-storey former warehouse building 

immediately east and a former office dated 1902 to the north) are an interesting 

reminder of the former goods yard. 

 

10 References 

10.1 Primary sources 

Ordnance Survey, c1880. 25 Inch Map First Edition (licensed digital copy at HE) 

Ordnance Survey, c1907. 25 Inch Map Second Edition (licensed digital copy at HE) 

Ordnance Survey, 2013. Mastermap Digital Mapping 

Tithe Map and Apportionment, 1839. Parish of Ladock (microfiche copy at HE) 

Tithe Map and Apportionment, 1840. Parish of Probus (microfiche copy at HE) 

10.2 Publications 

Bastin, CH and Thorne, G, 1994. The Railway Stations and Halts of Cornwall Plymouth 

Stengelhofen, JP, 1988. Cornwall's Railway Heritage Twelveheads Press, Truro 

10.3 Websites 

http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/gateway/ English Heritage’s online database of 

Sites and Monuments Records, and Listed Buildings 

http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/Gateway/Results_Single.aspx?uid=MCO48593&res

ourceID=1020 Grampound Road station 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 9 

http://www.nrm.org.uk/img/nrm/worksphotos/Sellick/1997-7219_RJS_CR_58.jpg 

National Rail Museum: photo of Grampound Road station 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Disused_railway_stations_(Cornish_Main_Line) 

http://www.railwaysarchive.co.uk/docsummary.php?docID=13 published Beeching 

report 

 

11  Project archive 
The HE project number is 146262 

The project’s documentary, photographic and drawn archive is housed at the offices of 

Historic Environment, Cornwall Council, Kennall Building, Old County Hall, Station Road, 

Truro, TR1 3AY. The contents of this archive are as listed below: 

1. A project file containing site records and notes, project correspondence and 

administration. 

2. Electronic drawings stored in the directory R:\Historic Environment (CAD)\CAD 

Archive\Sites G\Grampound Road Railway buildings 2013 

3. Black and white photographs archived under the following index numbers:  GBP 

2306 

4. Digital photographs stored in the directory R:\Historic Environment 

(Images)\SITES.E-H\Grampound Rd railway buildings 2013 

5. English Heritage/ADS OASIS online reference: cornwall2-154434 

This report text is held in digital form as: ..\Historic Environment\Projects\Sites\Sites 

G\Grampound Road railway building HBR\Report\Grampound Road former railway 

buildings.doc 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 10 

 

Fig 3 Extract from Probus and Ladock parish Tithe Maps, surveyed 1839/1840

 

Fig 4 First Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1880 

By this date the former Pye’s Tenement shown on Ladock Tithe map had become 

redeveloped as the Commercial Hotel 
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Fig 5 Second Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1907 

By the time this map was surveyed Building 2 had been constructed, as infill between 

Building 1 and structures adjoining the yard to the west  

 

Fig 6 Air photo of Grampound Road 2000 
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Fig 7  Air photo of Grampound Road 2005 

Comparison of Figs 5 and 6 shows that by 2005 many of the former station buildings 

and yard had been redeveloped as a modern housing estate 

 

Fig 8 Block plan 

 

Building 1 

Building 2 
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Fig 9 Front elevation of Building 1, viewed from the north west 

 

 

Fig 10 The frontage of Building 2 (right of centre) 

The modern houses behind have been built on the sites of further railway buildings and 

an associated yard 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 14 

 

Fig 11 The rear of Building 1 showing central loading doors into the upper floor 

An inserted window lies behind the bush to the right, and at extreme left is a slot (now 

infilled) for a belt drive 

 

Fig 12 The front loading doors on Building 1 

Note the projecting corbel to the right, probably to support  a loading crane, and a slot 

for an overhead loading beam above the keystone of the upper arch  
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Fig 13 An inserted (and subsequently infilled) slot for a belt drive to machinery inside 

the building 

 

 

Fig 14 The rear gable of Building 2 

Loading doorways and windows are just visible above the modern fence and within the 

bushes 
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Fig 15 The ground floor of Building 1 

Steel piers supporting the upper floor are probably all replacements. The larger beam 

(left) appears to be original, with two other outer beams added to strengthen the floor.  

 

Fig 16 Trapdoor associated with a sack hoist, viewed from beneath 
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Fig 17 The upper floor of Building 1, looking east 

A wide doorway towards the right has been blocked and replaced by a narrower more 

central door. The gable window above has been deepened and subsequently blocked   

 

Fig 18 The north eastern corner of Building 1, with former stairs to the right  

The doorway is an addition, made to connect with the first floor of Building 2 
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Fig 19 View towards the front wall on the upper floor of Building 1 

Note the remains of a timber beam above the loading doorway; this would once have 

supported an external pulley for bringing goods in or out of the building 

 

Fig 20 Features in the west gable wall of Building 1 

Note an original gable window, an infilled bearing recess (with grease stain below) 

which once supported line shafting, and the doorway to Building 2 
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Fig 21 The roof structure of Building 1 

Original king post trusses have had their diagonal struts removed (note underside 

empty mortises). The earlier darker purlins have been supplemented with newer timber 

when the roof covering was renewed 

 

Fig 22 Graffiti on a roof truss in Building 1  
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Fig 23 Graffiti on a roof truss in Building 1 

It appears this was periodically added by individuals who were oiling the line shaft 

bearings mounted in the roof structure 
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Fig 24 The trapdoor associated with a sack hoist, as seen in the planking of the upper 

floor  

 

 

Fig 25 Irregularities in the upper floor planking probably represent footings for 

machinery and /or chutes to the ground floor level 
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Fig 26 Interior of Building 2, looking north 

 

 

Fig 27 Interior of Building 2, looking south 
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Fig 28 Interior of Building 2, looking east, showing remains of upper floor and stair 

access 

 

 

Fig 29 Surviving area of upper floor at north end of Building 2 
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Fig 30 The upper floor of Building 2 was originally supported on central piers running 

the length of the building; a brick pier survives at the front of the building (towards 

left) and the horizontal black painted timber running into the pier is a truncated 

fragment of a principal floor beam 

The vertical timber (right of centre) is a reused element, placed here to support the 

remaining part of the upper floor  
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Fig 31 Building elevations 

Based on measured drawings kindly supplied by Steve Soper, with annotation and additional detail by HEP  
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Fig 32 Building plans 

Based on measured drawings kindly supplied by Steve Soper, with annotation and additional detail by HEP  
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Appendix 1: Planning brief 
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Appendix 2: Written Scheme of Investigation 

 

 

 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 37 

 

 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 38 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 39 

 

 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 40 

 

 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 41 

 

 



Grampound Road Railway Buildings 

 

 42 

 


